1986

Verlora Carlton v. Frank Hayden Carlton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal of the property distribution entered by the District Court of the Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Jay E. Banks presiding. At the time of the filing of this appeal, the Utah Supreme Court had appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Article VIII, Section 9, of the Constitution of the State of Utah, Section 78-2-2, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), and Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Appellant was notified by letter dated January 28, 1987, from the Clerk of the Court of Appeals that this case had been assigned to the Utah Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err in failing to enter Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law sufficient to identify and evaluate the parties' respective pre-marital assets?
2. Did the trial court err in failing to enter Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law having sufficient specificity to permit a determination of the parties' marital estate as distinguished from their respective pre-marital assets?
3. Did the trial court err in awarding a substantial portion of Appellant's pre-marital assets to Respondent in the absence of any special circumstances or unique factors justifying such an award?

NATURE OF CASE

This is a divorce action involving a 5-1/2 year marriage between older parties. There were no children born during the marriage. A two-day trial was held before the Honorable Jay E. Banks on December 18 and 19, 1985, at the conclusion of which the trial court took the matter under advisement. More than six months later, the trial judge announced his ruling to counsel in an unreported conference in chambers. Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were prepared by Respondent's counsel (R. at 184-194), and objected to by Appellant's counsel (R. at 175-177). Thereafter, the proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered by the trial court without modification on August 22, 1986, together with the Decree of Divorce (R. at 195-200). This appeal is from the property distribution provisions of the Decree.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties were married June 13, 1979, in Garden City, Utah. (R. at 260.) The marriage ended just 5-1/2 years later in December of 1984 (R. at 260), when Defendant-Appellant Frank Hayden Carlton (hereinafter "Mr. Carlton") returned from a business trip to Wyoming to discover that Plaintiff-Respondent Verloria Carlton (hereinafter "Mrs. Carlton") had filed a Complaint for divorce and left their residence, taking all of her belongings with her (R. at 386). Both parties had been married several previous times and had children from those prior marriages (R. at 330); however, no children were born as issue of the marriage (R. at 260).

Prior to the marriage, Mrs. Carlton was a cosmetologist in Saratoga, Wyoming, where she operated a beauty shop. (R. at 264.) During the two years prior to the marriage, she had realized gross earnings of just under \$1,100.00 per month. (R. at 340.) At the time of trial, Mrs. Carlton was 49 years of age. (R. at 330-31.)

On the other hand, Mr. Carlton was, at the time of trial, a few days away from his 65th birthday. (R. at 331.) Throughout the marriage, he was a certified public accountant (R. at 385) with an arduous practice (R. at 385), which serviced approximately 600 clients (R. at 441).

The parties agreed at the time of their marriage that they would each keep their own property separate (R. at 389) and at the time of the divorce each still had their property in their own separate names. Mrs. Carlton acknowledged at trial that Mr. Carlton was "very private" about

his financial affairs (R. at 275), and acknowledged that they did not discuss his assets prior to the marriage (R. at 272), noting that she first learned the details of his holdings from the financial declaration that he filed in the divorce proceedings (R. at 272).

In preparation for the marriage, Mrs. Carlton sold her beauty shop business in Wyoming, receiving approximately \$7,000.00 for it. (R. at 265.) She also sold a house that she had been purchasing in Wyoming, from which she netted \$10,000.00. (R. at 266.) She also brought to the marriage a 1977 Cordoba, with a value of approximately \$4,000.00, and an IRA account with a balance of slightly less than \$4,000.00. (R. at 266.) The assets that Mrs. Carlton held, at the time of, and at the conclusion of, the marriage were detailed in Exhibit 26-D (received R. at 335, reproduced infra at A-23). In total, Mrs. Carlton brought into the marriage slightly less than \$25,000.00.

On the other hand, Mr. Carlton brought assets to the marriage having an aggregate value of more than \$750,000.00. (R. at 418.) These assets included a duplex located on "K" Street in Salt Lake City, in which the parties resided (R. at 271), land with a summer home on Bear Lake in Rich County (R. at 139-141), and various securities (R. at 396). The specific assets brought into the marriage by Mr. Carlton, as well as the specific assets held by him at the end of the marriage, were detailed in Exhibit 35-D (received, R. at 135, reproduced infra at A-26).

The appraiser called at trial by Mrs. Carlton, Robert R. Terrell, testified that he was of the opinion that the "K" Street property had a value at the time of trial of \$122,500.00 (R. at 296); similarly, Jerry R. Webber, a

professional appraiser called by Mr. Carlton, testified that it was his opinion that the "K" Street property had a value at the time of trial of \$122,000.00 (R. at 408). While the two appraisers had no real dispute as to the value of the "K" Street property at the time of the trial, they did not agree as to its value at the time of the marriage. Mr. Terrell testified that he felt the property had a value of \$95,000.00 in June of 1979 (R. at 296), but could offer no specific comparable sales on which he based this opinion (R. at 299). Mr. Webber, on the other hand, based upon four specific comparables, including two sales that he had personally been involved with, testified that, in his opinion, the property would have been worth \$116,000.00 in June of 1979. (R. at 408.) There was no evidence of any changes or improvements to the property during the marriage.

With respect to the Bear Lake property, Mr. Carlton testified without contradiction that the property had been worth \$300,000.00 at the time of the marriage. (R. at 396.) He based that figure, in part, upon the fact that he had received an offer in that amount from a realtor at about the time of the marriage. (R. at 396.) He testified, also without contradiction, that by the time of the trial, the value of the Bear Lake property had declined to \$200,000.00 because of adverse economic conditions in the area. (R. at 395.)

During the marriage, inflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index caused a substantial diminution in the purchasing value of the dollar, so that each dollar of value held by the parties at the termination of their marriage was worth less than 69 cents when compared with the dollars they held at the time of their marriage. (See, Exhibit 30-D, received R. at 335,

reproduced infra at A-24.) Without taking this very real loss of purchasing power into account, Mr. Carlton's assets appreciated by approximately \$75,000.00 during the marriage. (See, Exhibit 35-D, reproduced infra at A-26.) It was Mr. Carlton's uncontradicted testimony at trial that his assets "just sat accumulating value on their own without further investment" during the marriage (R. at 397); in other words, the increase in the gross value of his assets was due to passive appreciation rather than active management.

Mrs. Carlton did not work during the marriage; instead, she was able to accompany Mr. Carlton on the substantial amount of traveling that he did in connection with his activities with the National Society of Public Accountants. (R. at 297.) These activities took the parties to fine hotels and nice resort areas, with many pleasant activities. (R. at 348.) Because of her husband's employment and the opportunities that it afforded, Mrs. Carlton enjoyed the pleasure of activities not available to her prior to the marriage. (R. at 348.)

During 1984, Mr. Carlton's professional employment provided an average net monthly income of slightly more than \$5,000.00, although he estimated that his 1985 income would be reduced, due to his advancing age and employee problems within his office. (R. at 386-88.) At the time of trial, Mrs. Carlton was earning \$800.00 per month. (R. at 327.) She testified that while she was in good health and possessed both a degree in cosmetology and a Wyoming cosmetology license, she did not want to return to Wyoming because "the economy went bad" (R. at 339) and "there is a beauty shop on every corner" in Wyoming (R. at 352). She acknowledged that she could obtain a Utah cosmetology license by taking a five-hour test (R. at 341-42)

but admitted that she had not done so prior to the time of trial (R. at 342), which was a year after the parties' separation.

Mrs. Carlton acknowledged that during the year's separation prior to trial, she had received more than \$21,000.00 in cash from Mr. Carlton by way of temporary support. (R. at 328.) From the time of trial through June 2, 1986, when a hearing was held before Judge Banks on Mr. Carlton's motion to terminate the temporary alimony based upon the allegation that Mrs. Carlton was cohabiting with a male, an additional \$8,000.00 in temporary support was paid to her. Additionally, she still had in her name assets totaling just over \$22,000.00, which she had acquired with the proceeds of her Wyoming business and home (R. at 333 and see Exhibit 26-D, reproduced infra at A-23). Mrs. Carlton also acknowledged at trial that, during the marriage, she had spent "quite a bit" of money on her children from previous marriages. (R. at 333.)

Having taken the matter under advisement on December 19, 1985, at the conclusion of the second day of trial, Judge Banks did not rule on this matter until July 11, 1986, some five weeks after the June 2, 1986, hearing on Mr. Carlton's motion to terminate the temporary support based upon Mrs. Carlton's alleged cohabitation. More than a month later, without the benefit of either a written memorandum decision or a reporter's transcript, Judge Banks notified the parties' counsel of his decision. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were prepared by Mrs. Carlton's counsel and entered by Judge Banks over Mr. Carlton's objections (R. at 184-194). The resulting Decree, after allowing Mr. Carlton various offsets and credits based upon numbers appearing in the Findings, awarded Mrs. Carlton judgment for an

additional \$129,246.00 above and beyond the \$22,041.00 in assets and approximately \$30,000.00 in temporary support that she had already received from this 5-1/2-year marriage to which she had contributed less than \$25,000.00.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The assets of these parties at the time of trial were substantial and derived largely from pre-marital assets. It was necessary, therefore, for the trial court to inventory and value the assets that the parties brought into the marriage and to determine which, if any, of the assets owned by the parties at the time of the termination of the marriage constituted marital assets acquired through the joint efforts of the parties as opposed to representing merely pre-marital assets albeit in possibly changed form. Under such circumstances, Utah law required the trial court to make specific Findings of Fact as to the extent and value of the parties' assets both at the time of their marriage and at the termination of that marriage.

The trial court erred in failing to make Findings of Fact having sufficient specificity reasonably to enable the trial court to determine the nature of the parties' various assets (i.e., marital or pre-marital) and the value of those various assets. Not only were the Findings of Fact entered by the trial court insufficient to permit the trial court to draw this critical distinction, they are totally inadequate to permit this Court to review the propriety of the property distribution attempted by the trial court. Accordingly, this action must be remanded to the trial court for the entry of Findings of Fact having sufficient specificity to enable the trial court to

make an equitable distribution of the parties' assets and to enable this Court to review that distribution.

The property distribution fashioned by the trial court is erroneous because it inequitably distributes to the Respondent wife a substantial portion of the Appellant husband's pre-marital assets. All of the factors consistently articulated by the Utah Supreme Court as bearing upon the distribution of pre-marital assets militate against the granting of any substantial portion of those assets to the wife under the facts of this case. The resulting property distribution is, therefore, inequitable and contrary to Utah law and must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE REASONABLY SPECIFIC FINDINGS CONCERNING THE VALUES OF THE PARTIES' PRINCIPAL ASSETS.

The central issue before the District Court in this action was the property distribution. In light of the fact that this was a short-term marriage between older parties and the fact that Mr. Carlton had extensive pre-marital assets, a determination of the values of the parties' assets both at the commencement and at the termination of the marriage was essential to a meaningful determination of the marital estate properly subject to distribution.

Unfortunately, a review of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the District Court (reproduced infra at A-2 through

A-12) reveals that the District Court failed to make any specific determinations on these crucial issues, notwithstanding Mr. Carlton's objection (R. at 175-177, reproduced infra at A-19 through A-21) to the proposed Findings. For example, the District Court found that there had been "sizable appreciation" in the "K" Street duplex brought into the marriage by Mr. Carlton but made no effort either to place a value on that asset at the time of the marriage or to quantify the amount of the appreciation. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 9, R. at 187, infra at A-5.) As noted above in the Statement of Facts (supra at 4-5), there was substantial but contradictory expert testimony offered on this precise issue.

Similarly, the District Court found that the parties had "acquired . . . personal property" during their marriage and noted that this property included "stocks and bonds in an investment account with E. F. Hutton Investment Company," but made no effort to determine either the separate or aggregate value of these securities. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 8, R. at 186, infra at A-4.) The trial court also found that the parties had accumulated "numerous bank accounts" and "certificates of deposit," but failed to further identify the accounts or place a value upon them. (Id.) The trial court also found that "accumulations to defendant's retirement account" had occurred during the marriage, but made no effort to determine the amount of those "accumulations." Nor did the trial court make any attempt to delineate which "accumulations" resulted from assets first acquired during the marriage as opposed to those resulting from the reinvestment or appreciation of pre-marital assets.

In fact, the only effort the trial court made to place a value upon the parties' marital estate appears in the Finding to the effect that the "marital appreciation . . . totals \$255,327.00." (Findings of Fact, paragraph 13, R. at 187, infra at A-5.) Significantly, while the figure mentioned by the trial court appears to have mathematical precision, it is an amount advocated by neither party and an amount which cannot be derived by any apparent mathematical manipulation of the values appearing in the testimony of the parties and trial exhibits. Since the trial court chose not to place values on the parties' assets at the relevant times, there exists no means by which the mathematically precise, yet inexplicable, figure of \$255,327.00 can be reviewed or verified.

The Utah Supreme Court requires that the trial judge in domestic relations matters involving property distribution enter Findings of Fact valuing the parties' assets at the relevant times so as to make meaningful appellate review possible. For example, in *Jones v. Jones*, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court was faced with an appeal from a property distribution in which there were "no findings of fact that fix[ed]" "the values . . . assigned to the various items of property included in the distribution." (700 P.2d at 1074.) Although the Utah Supreme Court recognized the "broad latitude" accorded to the trial court in domestic relations matters, it emphasized that "the trial court must exercise its discretion in accordance with the standards that have been set by this Court. (Id.) In language as applicable to the present case as to the case then before it, the Utah Supreme Court held:

On the present record, we cannot determine whether the trial court distributed the property equitably. . . . To avoid problems of this nature, we require that when one of the parties to a property distribution raises a serious question as to the value of one or more of the assets, the trial court's distribution of those assets should be based upon written findings of fact that will permit appellate review. . . .

....

[T]he gravamen of the [appellant's] claim here is that the distribution was inequitable. *To determine whether equity was done, we must have before us specific findings on the facts pertinent to that issue.*

700 P.2d at 1074 (emphasis added, citations omitted). The Court went on to note that remand was generally the appropriate remedy when the trial court fails to enter sufficient Findings of Fact. Remand is the only available option in this case because the Findings of Fact are so totally inadequate that it is simply impossible to review the propriety of the trial court's distribution of the parties' marital assets.

The Utah Supreme Court is by no means unique in its requirement of Findings from which the value of the parties' property can be determined. For example, in *Martin v. Martin*, 22 Wash. App. 295, 588 P.2d 1235 (1979), as in the present case, it was clear from the record that a dispute existed between the parties and the witnesses called as to the value of the principal assets of the parties but the trial court failed to ascribe values to the various assets. On appeal, the court reversed and remanded, noting:

[E]xcept for bank balances, the evidence is conflicting as to the value of the property. Neither the findings nor the conclusions attach a value to the various items of property awarded to the parties; nor does the court's oral decision contain any valuations. On this record, we

are unable to review the fairness of the property division. . . .

588 P.2d at 1236. In the present case, the situation is even more serious because of the very substantial pre-marital assets that Mr. Carlton possessed and because the trial court failed to inventory and value even liquid assets such as bank accounts and listed securities.

Similarly, in *Robinson v. Robinson*, 607 P.2d 550 (Mont. 1980), the trial court's decree and property distribution were reversed and remanded because the Findings failed to ascribe values to the assets distributed. The Montana Supreme Court held:

[W]ithout the required findings we cannot tell how or why the trial court arrived at the apportionment of the marital estate in this case. The lack of findings is similarly deficient as to the personal property distributed by the trial court.

Accordingly, the judgment is vacated

607 P.2d at 551. See also, *Schwartz v. Schwartz*, 602 P.2d 175 (Mont. 1979) and *Schultz v. Schultz*, 613 P.2d 1022 (Mont. 1980).

In the present case, the trial court held the matter under advisement for almost seven months after the trial before attempting to announce the ruling.¹ Ironically, at an intervening hearing on Mr. Carlton's motion for relief from the temporary alimony, the trial judge recognized and expressed the quandary created by the delay:

¹ Such action by the trial court was in direct violation of Section 78-7-25, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), which wisely requires that all matters taken under advisement be decided within sixty days except in extraordinary circumstances beyond the control of the judge.

Trouble is, when you take one under advisement, you get to looking at it and you get part of it there, and when you go back to review it, you have to go right back to scratch again and start over.

Transcript, R. at 465. Unfortunately, in this case, the trial transcript was not prepared by the court reporter until long after the Findings had been prepared and entered. (R. at 468.) Thus, the trial court faced the impossible task of inventorying and evaluating numerous assets without the benefit of a clear recollection of the witnesses' testimony and with only the trial exhibits and, possibly, his own notes for guidance.

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