1986

Verlora Carlton v. Frank Hayden Carlton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

B. The Trial Court Did Not Award The
Respondent Any Of Appellant's
Pre-Marital Estate.

Mr. Carlton urges the proposition upon the Court that, in all cases, separate property may not be considered in a property distribution. Further, he goes on to argue that any appreciation related to that property should also not be considered unless the spouse who did not bring the property into the marriage in some way actively contributed to that appreciation. Such generalizations are simply not extremely useful in domestic cases because each case turns on its own individual facts. A trial court is certainly not precluded from considering separate property and related appreciation whether it be active or passive, if the facts of an individual case so require.

In this case, the following facts and/or evidence were before the court. During the marriage, the parties lived a very frugal lifestyle (R. 390), and, according to Mr. Carlton, had family living expenses in 1984 of \$1,027.39 per month (\$12,328.73) (Ex. 31-D). They made no major purchases (R. 442), except for a car driven by Mr. Carlton which was paid for in cash (R. 382). Mrs. Carlton sold her home and business and traveled with and supported Mr. Carlton in his political ambitions (R. 276). Mr. Carlton earned between \$90,000-135,000.00 per year (Exs. 19-P, 20-P, 21-P and 22-P), and those sums did not include business and travel expenses which were paid for by his accounting business.

In conjunction with all of this testimony, Mrs. Carlton's Exhibit 14-P reflected a total marital estate of \$403,183.70, which included a deduction of the assets each had at the time of the marriage, and Mrs. Carlton requested that she receive one-half -- \$201,591.85 -- and that she be reimbursed for the assets she liquidated, with Mr. Carlton to receive the remaining \$201,591.85 and the assets he had at the time of the marriage.

Mr. Carlton's Exhibit 35-D states that he acquired only \$60,000.00 in stocks and bonds during the marriage. That he lost \$50,000.00 in cash and savings accounts and increased his pension plan by \$90,000.00. This resulted in only a \$100,000.00 gain during the marriage up to the date of separation.

After reviewing all of this evidence, the trial court ordered that Mrs. Carlton be returned the \$27,228.00 that she brought into the marriage and receive \$114,049.00 -- one-half of the \$228,099.00 the trial court found that the parties had acquired during the marriage (R. 187, 188). This amount is approximately half of what Mrs. Carlton had requested she be awarded, and she received no alimony or attorneys' fees (R. 189, 190).

In reviewing this evidence in relation to the position taken by Mr. Carlton, there is still the question of "If Mr. Carlton was making approximately \$100,000.00 per year, had \$750,000.00 to begin with, spent \$12,000.00 per year for living expenses, had his travel expenses paid for by his business and made no major purchases, what happened to the money?" The answer to that question was found by the trial court in Exhibit 14-P; namely, that there had been significant accumulation of funds and property during the marriage and Mrs. Carlton, as the person who supported her husband in his career, was entitled to one-half of that sum.

Simply put, each party received the property he or she brought into the marriage and then each received one-half of the profits generated by the six to seven year partnership.

Mrs. Carlton did not receive any of Mr. Carlton's pre-marital assets, even though the court, under the facts of this case, had the power to award such.

C. The Appellant's Evidence As To Value Was
Founded Upon An Erroneous Valuation Date.

Both parties to this action presented evidence relative to what they felt the values of the various assets in dispute were. Each gave personal testimony. Each presented expert appraisal testimony, and each provided an exhibit which reflected their respective testimonies as to identify and value of assets.

However, the approach used by Mr. Carlton was erroneous in that, while he presented evidence as to what he felt was the value of the assets as of the date of the marriage, he presented no evidence as to what the value of these assets was as of the date of trial, with the exception of the present value of the "K" Street property.

The "cutoff" valuation date he used was the date of separation -- December, 1984 -- not the date of trial, December, 1985, as is clearly demonstrated by his own testimony.

Q The exhibit itself [Exhibit 35-D] stops valuing your assets as of the end of 1984; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q Why did you not bring the asset values up to December 18, 1985?

A Because she left, according to her testimony, I think it was, the 19th of December, 1984.

Q So you basically have not included within this exhibit the current asset values of your properties?

A As of what date?

Q As of Today.

A No.

Q And is that something that your counsel indicated you should do for this trial?

A No. She left, that was the end,
the termination of the marriage.

Q So you have made the decision that
the values of the estate should be as of the
date she left?

A That's right. That's concurred
with by counsel. (R. 429)

This approach is incorrect and not in accord with current
Utah law. It requires that assets be valued as of the date the
evidence is presented to the court; not at a point prior in time.
As was stated in Berger v. Berger, 713 P.2d 695 (Utah 1985), in
holding that the trial court erred in valuing a company as of the
close of its fiscal year, and not at the time of trial:

The trial court erred in valuing
Enduratek as of March 21, 1981. The marital
estate should be valued as of the time of the
divorce decree. Fletcher, 615 P.2d at
122-23. (at 697)

The only admissible and proper evidence before the trial
court in this case as to present value of assets was the evidence
presented by Mrs. Carlton and set forth on Exhibit 14-P, which
provided the court with not only the values of the assets at the
time of marriage, but also as of the time of trial. Mr. Carlton
cannot now attempt to disturb those findings when his evidence
was simply inadequate on the issue of present value.

POINT III.

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE FINDINGS OF FACT
AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW IN THIS CASE WERE
INADEQUATE IS WITHOUT MERIT.

A. The Trial Court Carefully
Considered All The Evidence Before
It And The Findings So Reflect That
Consideration.

Point I of Appellant's Brief argues that in all divorce cases the Findings of Fact must include specific findings on the values of items of property. (Appellant's Brief, p. 9.) That is not a correct statement of the present state of the law in Utah. The correct standard was recently set out in Boyle v. Boyle, 55 Utah Adv. Rep. 51 (Ct. App. 4/15/87), when this Court referred to the holding in Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985), and stated:

The Supreme Court declined to disturb the property distribution, stating that such claim had been waived because the party seeking reversal failed to attempt to include property values in the findings of fact. Jones at 1074-75. We agree that a failure to include property valuations in divorce actions may, in some cases, constitute an abuse of discretion sufficient to require remand for determination of values. (emphasis added) Id. at 52.

Here, the trial court had before it two comprehensive exhibits on property values, property appreciation and property identification, and the trial judge used those exhibits in making his decision. The Findings identify each item of property each party brought into the marriage; what property was acquired

during the marriage; that certain assets, such as IRA's and automobiles, would be offset against one another; and that there had been appreciation of assets acquired or maintained during the marriage of \$255,327.00. Paragraph 14 of the Findings sets out the identity and value of each item of property Mrs. Carlton was to receive and/or which was to be divided equally between the parties. The Findings then go on to set out the respective earnings of each party, and the Court's specific finding on the Bear Lake property. Under current Utah law, these findings are adequate and should not be disturbed.

A similar challenge to the adequacy of findings was made in the case of Sorenson v. Sorenson, 561 P.2d 1080 (Utah 1977). In rejecting that challenge, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

In regard to the matter of the sufficiency of findings of fact, a substantial compliance with Rule 52, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, is sufficient, (footnote) and findings of fact and conclusions of law will support a judgment, though they are very general, where they in most respects follow the allegation of the pleadings.(footnote) Findings should be limited to the ultimate facts and if they ascertain ultimate facts, and sufficiently conform to the pleadings and the evidence to support the judgment, they will be regarded as sufficient, though not as full and complete as might be desired. (footnote) Id. at 1082.

In this case, the Findings signed by the court were limited to the ultimate facts in dispute, and sufficiently conformed to the pleadings and evidence presented by both parties at the time

of trial. Consequently, Appellant's claim of inadequate Findings is without merit.

B. The Appellant Waived Any Right To Challenge The Content of the Findings By Not Properly Objecting, By Not Submitting Alternative Proposed Findings And By Not Providing A Transcript of The Proceedings When The Trial Court's Decision Was Rendered.

Even assuming for the purpose of argument that the Findings as prepared and signed were inadequate, Appellant should now be precluded from challenging any such inadequacy.

After the trial court orally gave its decision to counsel, Mrs. Carlton's counsel was directed to prepare the Findings and Decree. Neither party requested a reporter at that hearing. Mrs. Carlton's counsel prepared the Findings and Decree and sent them to Mr. Carlton's counsel for review and approval. Mr. Carlton filed objections and did not approve the proposed Findings and instructed Mrs. Carlton's counsel to send the Findings and Decree on to the trial judge for signature. Mr. Carlton did not, at any subsequent time, request a hearing on those objections, nor did he submit alternate proposed Findings which very likely could have remedied the defects he now claims exists. By failing to do so, Appellant should not now be allowed to claim reversible error.

Appellant claims that the Findings do not set forth specific values of property. Mr. Carlton raises this objection for the

first time on appeal in that the only objection made at the trial level pertained to the failure of the Findings to include the "basis" by which the Court reached the conclusion that there had been appreciation in the marital estate (R. 175, 176). In order for a trial court to determine the adequacy of proposed findings, specific, as opposed to general, objections should be required: Appellant, in this case, failed to do so. Further, those objections were never called on for hearing, nor was a motion to amend the Findings ever made.

In addition, Mr. Carlton, when he concluded that the proposed findings were not acceptable, should have submitted alternative proposed Findings which would have had the effect of alerting the trial court to the problems he felt existed.

One final error on the part of Mr. Carlton was his failure to request a reporter at the hearing during which Judge Banks rendered his decision. It was during that hearing that Judge Banks gave the rationale for his decision. Without the benefit of a transcript, the trial judge's decision must be presumed to be correct.

In Sawyers v. Sawyers. 558 P.2d 607 (Utah 1976), the Appellant failed to provide a transcript of the proceedings below. Consequently, the Utah Supreme Court felt it had no alternative than to affirm, and stated:

Appellate review of factual matters can be meaningful, orderly and intelligent only in juxtaposition to a record by which lower

court's rulings and decisions on disputes can be measured. In this case, without a transcript, no such record was available, and therefore, no measurement of the District Court's actions can be made as urged upon us by Defendant.

And, as under elementary principles of Appellate review, we '. . . presume the findings of the Court to have been supported by admissible, competent, and substantial evidence . . . ' we affirm. Id. at 608-609.

Admittedly, Sawyers involved an entire trial transcript, but the principles set forth are applicable here where the Appellant claims there is an inadequate statement of the underlying reasons for the trial court's decision. It is very possible that those reasons would be revealed had the Appellant requested that the hearings related to the decision of the court and objections to findings be reported. Mr. Carlton cannot now cry "foul" when his own actions prevent this Court from having an entire record before it.

All of the foregoing constitute voluntary acts on the part of Mr. Carlton so as to now preclude him from arguing that the Findings as signed were fatally defective.

POINT IV.

RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF HER ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS APPEAL.

No error has been shown to have been committed and Mr. Carlton's appeal of the trial court's decision is without merit.

When an appeal is shown to be without merit, the Respondent has the right to request this Court to award her attorneys' fees associated with the appeal. As this Court properly concluded in Carter v. Carter, 584 P.2d 904 (Utah 1978):

However, the defendant argues that inasmuch as the plaintiff was unwilling to abide by the trial court's judgment, and that she has been put to the necessity of defending this appeal, the plaintiff should have to bear the costs thereof, including reasonable attorney's fees for her counsel. We agree with the reasonableness and propriety of her request. [footnote] Id. at 906.

See, also, Ehninger v. Ehninger, 569 P.2d 1104 (Utah, 1977).

Here, Respondent has a limited net income of \$630.00 per month (T. at 327). On the other hand, the record shows Appellant earned \$131,205.00 in 1982 (Ex. 20-P), and \$135,888.00 in 1983 (Ex. 19-P). Given his monthly expenses and his frugal nature, he has necessarily substantial discretionary income. Since Mrs. Carlton received no attorneys' fees from the trial court, fairness requires that Respondent not be required to deplete her estate further in demonstrating that this appeal is without merit. She requests this Court to remand to the trial court for determination an award of her attorneys' fees and costs associated with this appeal.

CONCLUSION

A trial court in a divorce case is afforded wide discretion in fashioning a remedy for the parties that best deals with the facts which are unique to them. Appellant has not shown that the trial court abused that wide discretion which would justify a reversal or alteration of its decision.

In this case, each party received the assets he or she brought into the marriage. However, in making a property division, a trial court may consider all assets of the parties. He is not required, as Appellant urges, to return separate property and related appreciations to the party who brought it into the marriage in all cases. Each case will turn on its own facts.

In this case, the trial judge concluded that the parties, through their joint efforts, had acquired a marital estate of \$255,327.00, and, under the circumstances, it was fair to award each party one-half of that estate.

The evidence presented by Appellant related to marital property appreciation used an incorrect valuation date -- the date of separation. Respondent's evidence uses the correct date -- the date of trial. Therefore, the only admissible evidence on the appreciation of the marital estate was Mrs. Carlton's, and the trial court was well within its bounds in relying on Respondent's evidence in reaching its ultimate decision.

Appellant's claim that the Findings of Fact were inadequate is without merit for two reasons. First, contrary to Appellant's

assertions, detailed property valuations are not always required. In this case, the Findings were sufficiently detailed; especially when read in conjunction with the two exhibits (Ex. 14-P and 35-D), related to property valuations submitted by each of the parties. Second, the objections filed by Mr. Carlton do not specifically address the issue of lack of specific values, but only that the basis of the trial court's decision is not set forth. Further, Appellant did not submit alternative proposed findings, nor did he request any transcript of the hearing at which the decision was rendered. Consequently, he has waived his right to claim error on this basis.

The trial court's decision was fair to both parties and should be affirmed in all respects. Appellant has shown no abuse of discretion; therefore, Mrs. Carlton also should be awarded her attorneys' fees and costs related to the appeal.